
 
 
 
 

May 11, 2021 
 
 
EA-21-019 
 
Mr. David Hoffenberg 
Chief Operations Officer 
Eastern Idaho Health Services, Inc. 
dba Eastern Idaho Reginal Medical Center 
P.O. Box 2077 
Idaho Falls, ID  83403 
 
SUBJECT:   NRC INSPECTION REPORT 030-32290/2020-001 
 
Dear Mr. Hoffenberg: 
 
This letter and the enclosed inspection report refer to the routine inspection conducted that 
commenced as a remote inspection on July 20, 2020.  An onsite inspection was performed at 
your facilities in Idaho Falls, Idaho, between November 18 and 20, 2020.  The inspection 
continued with in-office review through April 15, 2021.  The inspection was performed to 
examine activities conducted under your license as they relate to public health and safety and to 
confirm compliance with the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission’s (NRC’s) rules and 
regulations and with the conditions of your license.  Within these areas, the inspection consisted 
of an examination of selected procedures and representative records, observation of licensed 
activities and facilities, independent radiation measurements, and interviews with personnel.  
The enclosed report presents the results of this inspection.  The inspector discussed the 
preliminary inspection findings with you and other members of your staff on November 20, 2020, 
at the conclusion of the onsite portion of the inspection.  A final exit briefing was conducted 
telephonically with Mr. Jeff Sollis, Chief Executive Officer, you, and other members of your staff 
on April 28, 2021. 
 
Based on the results of this inspection, four apparent violations were identified and are being 
considered for escalated enforcement action in accordance with the NRC Enforcement Policy.  
The current Enforcement Policy is included on the NRC Web site at http://www.nrc.gov/about-
nrc/regulatory/enforcement/enforce-pol.html.  The apparent violations involve failures related to 
the implementation of your occupational radiation exposure monitoring program.  Specifically, 
the apparent violations involve the failure to:  (1) monitor individuals’ exposure from licensed 
and unlicensed radiation sources; (2) implement certain elements of your radiation protection 
program sufficiently to ensure compliance with the provisions of Title 10 of the Code of Federal 
Regulations (CFR) Part 20; (3) reduce the dose that an individual may be allowed to receive in 
the current year by the amount of occupational dose received while employed by any other 
person; and (4) provide instruction to individuals who were likely to receive in a year an 
occupational dose in excess of 100 mrem.   
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The circumstances surrounding these apparent violations, the significance of the issues, and 
the need for lasting and effective corrective action were discussed with Mr. Sollis, you, and 
other members of your staff during the telephonic exit meeting on April 28, 2021.   
 
Before the NRC makes its enforcement decision, we are providing you an opportunity to: 
(1) respond in writing to the apparent violations addressed in the inspection report within 
30 days of the date of this letter; (2) request a predecisional enforcement conference (PEC); or 
(3) request alternative dispute resolution (ADR).  If a PEC is held, it will be open for public 
observation and the NRC may issue a press release to announce the time and date of the 
conference.  Please contact Dr. Lizette Roldán-Otero, Chief, Materials Inspection Branch, 
at 817-200-1455 or Lizette.Roldan-Otero@nrc.gov within 10 days of the date of this letter to 
notify the NRC of your intended response to either provide a written response, participate in a 
PEC, or pursue ADR.  A PEC should be held within 30 days and an ADR session within 45 days 
of the date of this letter.  
 
If you choose to provide a written response, it should be clearly marked as a “Response to 
Apparent Violations in NRC Inspection Report 030-32290/2020-001; EA-21-019” and should 
include for each apparent violation:  (1) the reason for the apparent violation or, if contested, the 
basis for disputing the apparent violation; (2) the corrective steps that have been taken and the 
results achieved; (3) the corrective steps that will be taken; and (4) the date when full 
compliance will be achieved.  Your response may reference or include previously docketed 
correspondence, if the correspondence adequately addresses the required response.  To the 
extent possible, your response should not include any personal privacy or proprietary 
information so that it can be made available to the public without redaction.  Your written 
response, should you chose to provide one, should be sent to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory 
Commission, ATTN:  Document Control Desk, Washington, DC 20555-0001, with identical 
copies mailed to Ms. Mary Muessle, Director, Division of Nuclear Materials Safety, Region IV, 
1600 East Lamar Boulevard, Arlington, TX 76011, and emailed to R4Enforcement@nrc.gov, 
within 30 days of the date of this letter.  If an adequate response is not received within the time 
specified or an extension of time has not been granted by the NRC, the NRC will proceed with 
its enforcement decision or schedule a PEC. 
 
If you choose to request a PEC, the conference will afford you the opportunity to provide your 
perspective on these matters and any other information that you believe the NRC should take 
into consideration before making an enforcement decision.  The decision to hold a PEC does 
not mean that the NRC has determined that a violation has occurred or that enforcement action 
will be taken.  This conference would be conducted to obtain information to assist the NRC in 
making an enforcement decision.  The topics discussed during the conference may include 
information to determine whether a violation occurred, information to determine the significance 
of a violation, information related to the identification of a violation, and information related to 
any corrective actions taken or planned.  In presenting your corrective actions, you should be 
aware that the promptness and comprehensiveness of your actions will be considered in 
assessing any civil penalty for the apparent violations.  The guidance in NRC Information 
Notice 96-28, “Suggested Guidance Relating to Development and Implementation of Corrective 
Action,” may be helpful in preparing your response (Agencywide Documents Access and 
Management System (ADAMS) Accession No. ML061240509). 
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In lieu of a PEC, you may request ADR with the NRC in an attempt to resolve this issue.  
Alternative dispute resolution is a general term encompassing various techniques for resolving 
conflicts using a neutral third party.  The technique that the NRC employs is mediation.  
Mediation is a voluntary, informal process in which a trained neutral mediator works with parties 
to help them reach resolution.  If the parties agree to use ADR, they select a mutually agreeable 
neutral mediator who has no stake in the outcome and no power to make decisions.  Mediation 
gives parties an opportunity to discuss issues, clear up misunderstandings, be creative, find 
areas of agreement, and reach a final resolution of the issues.  Additional information 
concerning the NRC's ADR program can be obtained at http://www.nrc.gov/about-
nrc/regulatory/enforcement/adr.html.  The Institute on Conflict Resolution at Cornell University 
has agreed to facilitate the NRC's program as a neutral third party.  Please contact the Institute 
on Conflict Resolution at 877-733-9415 within 10 days of the date of this letter if you are 
interested in pursuing resolution of this issue through ADR. 
 
Please be advised that the number and characterization of apparent violations described in the 
enclosed inspection report may change as a result of further NRC review.  You will be advised 
by separate correspondence of the results on our deliberations in this matter.   
 
In accordance with 10 CFR 2.390 of the NRC’s “Agency Rules of Practice and Procedure,” 
a copy of this letter, and its enclosure, and your response, if you choose to provide one, will be 
made available electronically for public inspection in the NRC Public Document Room or in the 
NRC’s ADAMS, accessible from the NRC Web website at http://www.nrc.gov/reading-
rm/adams.html.  To the extent possible, your response should not include any personal privacy 
or, proprietary information so that it can be made available to the public without redaction. 
 
If you have any questions concerning this matter, please contact Dr. Lizette Roldán-Otero of my 
staff, at 817-200-1455. 
 

Sincerely,  
 
 
 
 

Mary C. Muessle, Director 
Division of Nuclear Materials Safety 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Eastern Idaho Health Services 
dba Eastern Idaho Regional Medical Center (EIRMC) 

NRC Inspection Report 030-32290/2020-001 

On July 20, 2020, the NRC began a remote routine inspection of EIRMC.  Onsite inspection 
activities were performed between November 18-20, 2020, at the EIRMC facilities in Idaho 
Falls, Idaho.  The inspector continued in-office review through April 15, 2021.  The scope of the 
inspection was to examine the activities conducted under the license and to confirm compliance 
with the NRC’s rules and regulations and with the conditions of the EIRMC license.  The 
inspection also included additional review of the licensee’s corrective actions to address a 
previously issued violation.   

Program Overview 

Eastern Idaho Regional Medical Center is authorized under NRC Materials License 
11-27346-01 to possess and use byproduct material for diagnostic and therapeutic medical use
under Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (10 CFR) Part 35 at its facilities in Idaho.

Follow-up from NRC’s 2017 Inspection 

The inspector reviewed the licensee’s corrective actions related to a previously identified 
Severity Level IV violation regarding the licensee’s failure to have properly prepared, signed, 
and dated written directives prior to the use of a Valencia applicator for the treatment of skin 
lesions using high dose rate remote afterloader brachytherapy.  The licensee’s corrective 
actions appear to have been effective in preventing recurrence of the violation.  Based on the 
NRC’s inspection, the violation is considered closed.  

Dosimetry Program 

The inspector identified that one Authorized User (AU) involved with yttrium-90 administrations 
had not consistently worn or had improperly worn assigned personnel dosimeters, which are 
intended to be used to monitor radiation dose to the individuals.   

Four apparent violations were identified regarding the licensee’s failure to:  (1) monitor 
individuals’ exposure from licensed and unlicensed radiation sources; (2) implement certain 
elements of its radiation protection program sufficiently to ensure compliance with the provisions 
of Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 20; (3) reduce the dose that an 
individual may be allowed to receive in the current year by the amount of occupational dose 
received while employed by any other person; and (4) provide instruction to individuals who 
were likely to receive in a year an occupational dose in excess of 100 mrem.   

As of April 15, 2021, the licensee had not provided the NRC with the results of its radiation dose 
estimate for the AU or with its corrective actions to address the preliminary inspection findings 
that were described by the inspector at the conclusion of the onsite inspection.   
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REPORT DETAILS 

1 Program Overview (Inspection Procedures (IPs) 87131, 87132) 

1.1 Program Scope 

Eastern Idaho Regional Medical Center (EIRMC or licensee) is authorized under NRC 
Materials License 11-27346-01 to possess and use byproduct material for diagnostic 
and therapeutic medical use under Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (10 CFR) 
Part 35 at its facilities in Idaho.   

1.2 Observations and Findings 

On July 20, 2020, the NRC began a remote routine inspection of EIRMC.  Onsite 
inspection activities were performed during November 18-20, 2020, at the EIRMC 
facilities in Idaho Falls, Idaho.  The inspector continued in-office review through April 15, 
2021.  The onsite inspection included reviews of the EIRMC main hospital and the 
licensee’s Idaho Cancer Center/Gamma West Cancer Services facility, both located in 
Idaho Falls, Idaho.  The scope of the inspection was to examine the activities conducted 
under the license and to confirm compliance with the NRC’s rules and regulations and 
with the conditions of the EIRMC license. 

Within these areas, the inspection consisted of a selected examination of procedures 
and representative records, observations of licensed activities, independent radiation 
measurements, and interviews with personnel.  The inspector also obtained and 
reviewed additional documents provided by the licensee following the onsite inspection.   

This inspection also included a review of the licensee’s corrective actions to address a 
previously issued violation.   

2 Follow-up from NRC’s 2017 Inspection (IP 87132) 

2.1 Inspection Scope 

On July 20, 2020, the inspector began a remote routine inspection of EIRMC.  During 
November 18-20, 2020, the inspector performed onsite inspection activities at the 
licensee’s facilities in Idaho Falls, Idaho.  The inspection included a review of the 
licensee’s corrective actions to address a previously issued violation.  To evaluate this 
matter, the inspector reviewed records, procedures, and documents maintained by the 
licensee, observed licensed activities, and interviewed personnel.   

2.2 Background 

On August 21, 2017, NRC Inspection Report and Notice of Violation (NOV) 
030-32290/2017-001 was issued (ADAMS Accession No. ML17220A150).  The
Inspection Report and NOV identified a Severity Level IV violation related to the
licensee’s high dose rate (HDR) remote afterloader brachytherapy program.

The violation was related to the licensee’s failure to comply with 10 CFR 35.40(a), which 
requires in part, that a written directive must be dated and signed by an Authorized User 
(AU) before the administration of any therapeutic dose of radiation from byproduct 
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material (VIO 030-32290/2017-001-01).  The violation was specifically related to the use 
of written directives for the licensee’s HDR remote afterloader brachytherapy program as 
authorized under 10 CFR 35.600.  The 2017 inspection found that the licensee failed to 
have properly prepared, signed, and dated written directives prior to the use of a 
Valencia applicator for the treatment of skin lesions.  Because use of the Valencia 
applicator does not require a treatment plan to be entered into the HDR remote 
afterloader brachytherapy treatment planning system, the licensee’s electronic written 
directive form was inadvertently bypassed.  As a result, a patient was treated using a 
Valencia applicator with the HDR remote afterloader without a properly prepared written 
directive being signed and dated prior to the administration.   

The licensee responded to the NOV in a letter dated September 5, 2017 (ADAMS 
Accession No. ML17303A359).  The licensee committed to institute a process to 
address situations where it is not necessary to enter a treatment plan into the HDR 
remote afterloader brachytherapy treatment planning system.  For those cases, such as 
when a Valencia applicator is used, measures would be put in place to assure that 
properly prepared written directives are signed and dated prior to the administrations.   

2.3 Observations and Findings 

During the portion of the inspection performed at the licensee’s Idaho Cancer 
Center/Gamma West Cancer Services facility in Idaho Falls, Idaho, the inspector 
observed licensed activities related to the licensee’s Elekta, Inc., Model microSelectron 
106.990 HDR remote afterloader.  The inspector reviewed the licensee’s implementation 
of its HDR remote afterloader brachytherapy program performed under 10 CFR 35.600.  
The inspector reviewed a selected sample of quality assurance checks, pre-treatment 
plans, written directives, and post-treatment radiation dose evaluations.   

The inspector observed an Authorized Medical Physicist (AMP) perform the periodic 
spot-check of the HDR remote afterloader in preparation for a scheduled patient 
administration.  The inspector observed the HDR unit be set up for the spot-check and 
observed the performance of the spot-check, which included verification of the operation 
of the electrical interlocks.   

The inspector observed a scheduled HDR remote afterloader brachytherapy patient 
administration.  Licensee personnel, including the AMP, AU, and other staff were familiar 
with the licensee’s operating and emergency procedures for the HDR remote 
afterloader.  Required emergency equipment was available, and the emergency 
procedures were properly posted.  In-room radiation monitors functioned as required.  
The AMP performed required radiation surveys with a calibrated hand-held radiation 
survey instrument.  A properly prepared written directive was signed and dated by the 
AU prior to the administration.  Licensee staff performed verification of the patient’s 
identification and the prescribed dose on the written directive prior to the start of the 
procedure and utilized time-outs throughout the administration process.  

In reviewing the licensee’s corrective actions, the inspector reviewed a selected sample 
of treatment plans and written directives for HDR remote afterloader administrations 
performed using a variety of applicators.  Different types of applicators were used by the 
licensee for administrations for treatments of prostate, female reproductive, breast, and 
skin.  Based on a list provided by the licensee, at least 140 HDR brachytherapy 



 

5 

administrations were performed between September 2017 and September 2020; 
approximately 30 of those administrations were for treatment of skin lesions.   
 
The licensee possessed a set of Valencia and Leipzig applicators that can be used for 
the treatment of superficial skin lesions.  Treatment planning for the use of these 
applicators does not involve the Elekta treatment planning system.  Instead, the AMP 
uses dose distribution charts for the source and creates a treatment plan in the 
treatment communication console as opposed to the treatment planning system.  It is 
this deviation in electronic workflow that allowed the 2017 violation to occur.  The 
inspector observed that as a corrective action, the licensee has built steps and time-outs 
into its electronic workflow, including a hard stop between the approved treatment plan 
and actual patient administration.  At the hard stop point, a chart assessment will be 
made by the AMP and AU to verify that the: (1) written directive has been properly 
prepared, dated, and signed by the AU; (2) location to be treated is accurate; and 
(3) transfer tubes and channels are appropriate for the planned administration.  This type 
of hard stop verification is required for all treatment plans that have not been imported 
from the treatment planning system, such as those involving Valencia and Leipzig 
applicators used for skin lesions.    
 
The inspector found that in all cases, including for treatments of skin lesions, properly 
prepared written directives were dated and signed by an AU prior to administration.  The 
licensee’s corrective actions appear to have been effective in preventing recurrence of 
the violation.  Accordingly, violation 030-32290/2017-001-01 is considered closed.   

 
2.4 Conclusions 
 

The inspector reviewed the licensee’s corrective actions related to a previously identified 
Severity Level IV violation regarding the licensee’s failure to have properly prepared, 
signed, and dated written directives prior to the use of a Valencia applicator for the 
treatment of skin lesions using HDR remote afterloader brachytherapy.  The licensee’s 
corrective actions appear to have been effective in preventing recurrence of the 
violation.  Based on the NRC’s inspection, the violation is considered closed.  

 
3 Dosimetry Program (IP 87131, 87132) 
 
3.1 Inspection Scope 
 

On July 20, 2020, the inspector began a remote routine inspection of EIRMC.  During 
November 18-20, 2020, the inspector performed onsite inspection activities at the 
licensee’s facilities in Idaho Falls, Idaho.  The inspection included a review of the 
licensee’s dosimetry program.  To evaluate this matter, the inspector reviewed records, 
procedures, and documents maintained by the licensee, observed licensed activities, 
and interviewed personnel.   
 

3.2 Inspection Observations 
 
Title 10 CFR 20.1502 requires, in part, that each licensee shall monitor exposure to 
radiation and radioactive material at levels sufficient to demonstrate compliance with the 
occupational dose limits of 10 CFR Part 20.  At a minimum, each licensee shall monitor 
exposure to radiation from licensed and unlicensed radiation sources under the control 
of the licensee and shall supply and require the use of individual monitoring devices by 
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adults likely to receive, in 1 year from sources external to the body, a dose in excess of 
10 percent of the limits in 10 CFR 20.1201(a). 
 
Amendment No. 36 of NRC license 11-27346-01, issued on August 5, 2016, authorized 
the licensee to perform licensed activities under 10 CFR 35.1000 using yttrium-90 (Y-90) 
SIR-spheres microspheres.  Amendment No. 40 of NRC license 11-27346-01, issued on 
November 29, 2018, authorized the licensee to perform licensed activities under 10 CFR 
35.1000 using Y-90 TheraSphere microspheres.  From the beginning the Y-90 
microsphere activities at EIRMC, only one AU, hereafter referred to as AU1, has been 
authorized for the use of SIR-Spheres and TheraSphere microspheres.  Just prior to the 
onsite inspection, AU1 had completed the third proctored TheraSphere case.  AU1 is an 
Interventional Radiology (IR) physician that is not a licensee direct employee but rather 
works under the EIRMC NRC license as part of an independent radiology provider, 
Medical Imaging Associates.  After the NRC’s onsite inspection, the EIRMC license was 
amended to authorize a second AU for activities under 10 CFR 35.1000 using Y-90.  
 
As an IR physician, AU1 was involved with both licensed and unlicensed activities at 
EIRMC.  Licensed activities that AU1 participated in involved the use of Y-90, as 
authorized in NRC Materials License 11-27312-01, under 10 CFR 35.1000.  It was 
determined that AU1 was also involved with unlicensed activities at EIRMC.  These 
activities, which included the use of radiation-producing devices, such as fluoroscopes 
and other x-ray generating devices to perform IR procedures, are called “unlicensed” or 
“non-licensed” because they are not licensed by the NRC.   
 
For the NRC licensed activities at EIRMC, although the licensee’s Y-90 microspheres 
program was first authorized by the NRC in August 2016, it was unclear when the 
licensee first started performing Y-90 administrations.  The number of Y-90 
administrations performed in Calendar Year (CY) 2017 was unavailable.  The licensee 
stated that in CY 2018, AU1 performed 13 Y-90 administrations; in CY 2019, AU1 
performed 13 Y-90 administrations; and in CY 2020 up to the date of the onsite 
inspection, AU1 performed 9 Y-90 administrations.   
 
During the onsite portion of the inspection, which was conducted in November 2020, 
AU1 was observed by the inspector to be wearing a monthly June 2020 chest dosimeter 
on a lanyard.  The inspector observed AU1’s personalized lead apron hanging in the 
common area of the radiology department and observed that it had an empty dosimeter 
holder on the collar.  Monthly chest dosimeters for AU1 from July, August, September, 
and October 2020 could not be located.  The assigned collar dosimeter for 
November 2020 could not be located, but after additional searching, the assigned 
monthly chest dosimeter for November 2020 was located by AU1.   
 
Personnel dosimeters are used by the licensee to measure the radiation dose to 
occupationally exposed individuals.  For individuals involved in IR procedures, such as 
AU1, the licensee assigned two monthly dosimeters.  One dosimeter should have been 
worn at the chest under the lead apron, and the other dosimeter at the collar above the 
lead collar.  Although EIRMC had assigned both chest and collar dosimeters to AU1, the 
licensee was not applying EDE1 calculations to the monthly dosimeter values.  This was 
due, in part, to the licensee’s understanding that the dosimeter vendor was unable to 
perform EDE1 calculations for collar-chest dosimeter combinations and that EDE1 
calculations could only be applied to collar-waist dosimeter combinations.  Application of 
EDE1 is where one dosimeter is worn at the waist level under a lead apron and one 
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dosimeter is worn at the collar level outside the lead apron or lead collar; the formula 
applied is typically:  1.5 (Waist Deep Dose Equivalent (DDE)) + 0.04 (Collar DDE) = 
Assigned DDE.   
 
Based on records reviewed by the inspector, since at least 2018 the licensee’s medical 
physics consultant had recommended to the licensee in quarterly radiation safety 
program audits that steps should be taken to institute a proper dosimeter approach to 
apply EDE1 in order to more accurately reflect the radiation dose received.  In October 
2020, just prior to the onsite portion of the inspection, the licensee worked with the 
dosimeter vendor to switch from collar-chest dosimeters to collar-waist dosimeters for 
certain occupationally exposed individuals so that EDE1 could be applied going forward. 
 
The inspector requested that the dosimeter records for AU1 be provided for review.  
Table 1 provides the available dosimeter data for AU1 for CY 2017 through 
November 2020.  Because the licensee was not applying EDE1 calculations to 
dosimeter results, they assigned the annual DDE to AU1 based on a conservative 
approach by summing the conservative (high) dosimeter value for each month, 
regardless if it was received on a collar or chest dosimeter.        
 

  Dosimeter Results in mrem for AU1 

  2017 2018 2019 2020 

  Chest Collar Chest Collar Chest Collar Chest Collar Waist 

January − − 5 8 233 652 M 598   

February − − − 7 M 559 M 248   

March − − M M M 209 − 323   

April − − M M 3 547 − 152   

May M M M M M 385 M 223   

June M M M M 84 382 Wearing 757   

July M M M M M M − 391   

August M M M M M 379 − −   

September M M M M 1 1008 − −   

October 15 957 M M − −   − − 

November 10 15 M M 158 521 NRC Inspection 

December 13 13 217 35 M 146       
Assigned 
DDE 985 232 4788   
−  represents a dosimeter that was not turned in for processing 

M   represents "minimal" dose below the detection limit of the dosimeter 
Table 1: Dosimeter Results in mrem for AU1 for Calendar Years 2017-2020 

 
As can be interpreted from the available dosimeter data and based on interviews, AU1 
had inconsistent use of the assigned personnel dosimeters during the conduct of 
procedures involving licensed and unlicensed sources of radiation.  There were periods 
of time where the dosimeter data for AU1 is indicative of the monthly assigned 
dosimeters not being worn, such as for many months in CY 2017 and CY 2018.  
Additionally, there is a period of time in CY 2019 and CY 2020 where it appears that the 
monthly assigned dosimeters were being used to a greater extent but inconsistently. 
 
The fact that AU1 was observed by the inspector to be wearing the monthly June 2020 
chest dosimeter in November 2020 is a clear example of dosimeters being worn 
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improperly.  July, August, September, and October 2020 chest dosimeters were not 
worn during the assigned wear periods, and the June 2020 chest dosimeter was not 
turned in for processing at the end of the assigned wear period and worn well beyond 
the assigned wear period. 
 
For CY 2019, the annual assigned DDE to AU1 was 4788 mrem, which is marginally 
less than the NRC’s annual limit of 5000 mrem.  The licensee assigned DDE is based on 
the conservative value from the monthly collar dosimeters and may not be the best 
estimate of radiation dose to AU1.  Furthermore, there was at least one month in CY 
2019 where the monthly chest and collar dosimeters were not turned in for processing, 
so it is unknown what additional exposure was received during that time period.  During 
the interview, AU1 stated that sometimes the lanyard with the dosimeter would get in the 
way when performing IR procedures and that he/she would pull the lanyard out from 
under the lead apron and toss the lanyard with the dosimeter over a shoulder.  All of 
these factors taken together raise significant doubts as to the validity of the licensee’s 
assigned annual DDE for AU1 for multiple CYs. 
 
Title 10 CFR 20.1101(a) requires, in part, that each licensee implement a radiation 
protection program commensurate with the scope and extent of licensed activities 
sufficient to ensure compliance with 10 CFR Part 20.   
 
The licensee’s policy, “ALARA Program,” Reference 7337, provided procedures for the 
licensee to follow when reviewing occupational radiation dose results.  It stated that for 
personnel doses less than the licensee’s ALARA Investigational Level I, “Except when 
deemed appropriate by the Radiation Safety Officer (RSO), no further action will be 
taken in those cases where an individual’s dose is less than the Table 1 values for 
Investigational Level I.”  This approach fails to put practices in place to identify when 
dosimeters were unused, not returned, or had unexpectedly low exposures based on the 
activities being performed by the monitored individuals.  As a result, although there were 
many months in CY 2017 and CY 2018, and some months in CY 2019 and CY 2020 
where it does not appear that AU1 wore either assigned monthly dosimeter, neither the 
licensee nor its medical physics consultant identified this deficiency or took any actions 
to address it.   
 
Furthermore, the licensee’s policy, “ALARA Program,” Reference 7337, provided that for 
personnel dose equal to or greater than the licensee’s ALARA Investigational Level II, 
“The RSO or designee will investigate in a timely manner the causes of all personnel 
doses equaling or exceeding Investigational Level II and, if warranted, will take action.”  
During periods of time when there was apparent dosimeter use by AU1, the licensee and 
its medical physics consultant identified some dosimeter readings for AU1 that were 
greater than the licensee’s ALARA Investigational Level II value.  Based on documents 
reviewed by the inspector, it appeared that the medical physics consultant’s approach to 
individuals exceeding the licensee’s ALARA investigational levels was to document that 
the investigational level was exceeded; the consultant would also note that if EDE1 were 
to be applied, the dose would be less than the investigational level.  This approach 
assumes that dosimeters were properly worn.  This approach also may have led the 
licensee to believe that the elevated dosimeter results did not warrant significant 
investigation, verification, or that any actions needed to be taken.  
 
The licensee provided the inspector with two “ALARA Violation Notices” that had been 
issued by the licensee to AU1 for the second and fourth quarters of 2019.  The ALARA 



 

9 

Violation Notices documented that AU1 exceeded the licensee’s quarterly ALARA 
Investigational Level II limit of 375 mrem.  Although it appeared that there were other 
quarters where the licensee’s ALARA Investigational level II was exceeded, other 
ALARA Violation Notices could not be located.  In response to the licensee’s ALARA 
Violation Notices, AU1 submitted responses to an RSO questionnaire, responding in one 
case that the elevated radiation dose for the quarter was the result of working 
significantly more hours or additional procedures; in the other case AU1 indicated that 
he/she was involved in procedures requiring unusually high exposure to radiation.  In 
both cases, AU1’s assertions for the reasons for the elevated radiation doses were not 
followed up on or further investigated by the RSO and no actions were taken.  
Furthermore, the inspector was informed that AU1 was one of several IR physicians that 
would rotate through the radiology department.  As a result, AU1 only performed IR 
procedures at EIRMC a few days a month for a limited number of IR procedures and did 
not work significantly increased hours or high exposure procedures.  At the time of the 
inspection, information regarding AU1’s monthly workload and type of IR procedures 
performed at EIRMC was not available for comparison to the dosimeter results.  
 
Title 10 CFR 20.1201(f) requires, in part, that the licensee shall reduce the dose that an 
individual may be allowed to receive in the current year by the amount of occupational 
dose received while employed by any other person. 
 
During the interview, AU1 informed the inspector that he/she also performed IR 
procedures at other facilities.  The IR procedures performed at other facilities were 
described by AU1 as mainly consisting of spinal injections and other limited procedures, 
which typically involve geometrically smaller fluoroscopy beams and short x-ray beam-
on times, resulting in less radiation dose than other IR procedures.  As a result, AU1 
perceived the performance of these IR procedures at other facilities as minimally 
contributing to the annual occupational radiation dose.  However, if one’s assigned 
annual DDE, for example, is 4788 mrem as it was in CY 2019, even a limited 
occupational radiation exposure at another facility could be enough to result in a 
radiation dose that exceeds the NRC’s annual limit for occupational dose.   
 
The inspector also noted that at the time of the inspection, AU1 was an AU at another 
NRC medical use licensee in Idaho and was authorized for activities under 10 CFR 
35.100, 10 CFR 35.200, and for the oral administration of sodium iodide iodine-131.  At 
the time of the inspection the EIRMC RSO was unaware if AU1 was monitored at any of 
these other licensed or unlicensed facilities.  As a result, the licensee did not account for 
any concurrent occupational radiation dose received by AU1 at other licensed or 
unlicensed facilities and did not appear to be aware that they needed to do so.  During 
interviews, AU1 noted that he/she did not feel that it was necessary to count this 
additional dose under the assumption that the radiation dose from occupational 
exposure at other facilities was “low.”  The licensee also was unable to comment on the 
extent of this condition regarding whether there were other occupationally monitored 
individuals at EIRMC, including the RSO, other AUs, and AMPs, that received 
concurrent occupational radiation dose at other NRC licensed facilities or at unlicensed 
facilities.   
 
Title 10 CFR 19.12(a)(3) requires, in part, that all individuals who in the course of 
employment are likely to receive in a year an occupational dose in excess of 100 mrem 
shall be instructed in, and required to observe, to the extent within the worker’s control, 



 

10 

the applicable provisions of the Commission regulations and licenses for the protection 
of personnel from exposure to radiation and/or radioactive material.  
 
The licensee had a training program for all personnel who handle radioactive material, 
are likely to receive 100 mrem annually, or whose duties will require them to work in the 
vicinity of radioactive materials.  The licensee’s training program specified that it be 
provided before assuming duties with, or in the vicinity of, radioactive materials; during 
annual refresher training; or when there is a significant change in duties, regulations, or 
the terms of the NRC license.  The licensee provided the inspector with a list of topics for 
the training program, which included applicable regulations and license conditions, and 
the worker’s right to be informed of occupational exposure.  However, the licensee’s 
training did not include any topics related to provisions or instructions regarding the 
proper use of personnel dosimeters.   
 
The EIRMC corporate policy, HCA Clinical Services Group, Radiation Right 
Governance, dated January 15, 2018, indicated that physicians and other licensed 
independent practitioners are required to provide evidence of having completed 
minimum radiation safety education when requesting the clinical privilege to perform 
procedures in which fluoroscopy shall be used under their supervision.  To be eligible to 
be granted this clinical privilege the physician or other licensed independent practitioner 
must first meet facility-defined requirements for radiation safety education.  The policy 
further states that all staff who enter areas using active fluoroscopy will receive annual 
radiation safety training, including relevant education in maintaining doses ALARA and 
managing occupational exposure. 
 
Although AU1 met the licensee’s medical and educational standards, the licensee was 
unable to provide any records indicating that AU1 had participated in the licensee’s 
personnel radiation safety training program or received relevant education in maintaining 
doses ALARA and managing occupational exposure.  It appeared that as part of an 
independent radiology group, AU1 was inadvertently not included in the licensee’s 
radiation safety training program and therefore did not receive any initial or refresher 
radiation safety training from the licensee or any specific instruction regarding the proper 
use of dosimeters.   
 

3.3 Radiation Dose Evaluation 
 

At the conclusion of the onsite inspection in November 2020, the inspector discussed the 
preliminary inspection findings with the licensee and requested that the licensee perform 
an analysis of the occupational radiation dose received by AU1 going back to the 
beginning of the licensee’s Y-90 administration program, and accounting for any 
occupational radiation dose received by AU1 at other licensed or unlicensed facilities.   
 
Following the onsite inspection, the licensee reported that they had been in contact with 
the independent radiology provider, Medical Imaging Associates, to request historical 
dosimeter reports for AU1.  The licensee also reported that they were working with the 
dosimetry vendor and AU1 to request dosimeter reports from other facilities where AU1 
received occupational exposure to radiation from licensed or unlicensed activities.   As of 
April 15, 2021, the licensee had not provided the results of its analysis to the NRC. 
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  The NRC is unable to perform an independent evaluation of AU1’s radiation dose due to 

insufficient information regarding such factors as:  IR caseload, types of IR cases, and 
equipment utilized at multiple facilities. 
 

3.4 Causal Evaluation 
 

As of April 15, 2021, the licensee had not provided the results of its causal evaluation 
regarding the NRC identified deficiencies. 
  
The inspector identified that the licensee’s failure to develop and implement a radiation 
protection program, including policies, procedures, and training programs, that were 
commensurate with the scope and extent of licensed activities, was the cause of the 
dosimetry program deficiencies.  Furthermore, licensee failures in its oversight of the 
dosimetry program contributed to not identifying deficiencies with respect to proper 
dosimeter use and not being aware of, or accounting for, occupational radiation doses 
received by individuals at other facilities.    
 

3.5 Inspection Findings 
  

Four apparent violations were identified regarding the licensee’s failure to: (1) monitor 
individuals’ exposure from licensed and unlicensed radiation sources; (2) implement 
certain elements of the radiation protection program; (3) reduce the dose that an 
individual may be allowed to receive in the current year by the amount of occupational 
dose received while employed by any other person; and (4) provide instruction to 
individuals who were likely to receive in a year an occupational dose in excess of 
100 mrem.  
 
Apparent violation of 10 CFR 20.1502 

 
Title 10 CFR 20.1502 requires, in part, that each licensee shall monitor exposure to 
radiation and radioactive material at levels sufficient to demonstrate compliance with the 
occupational dose limits of 10 CFR Part 20.  At a minimum, each licensee shall monitor 
occupational exposure to radiation from licensed and unlicensed radiation sources under 
the control of the licensee and shall supply and require the use of individual monitoring 
devices by adults likely to receive, in 1 year from sources external to the body, a dose in 
excess of 10 percent of the limits in 10 CFR 20.1201(a). 
 
Contrary to the above, from August 5, 2016, to November 18, 2020, the licensee failed 
to adequately monitor individuals’ occupational exposure to radiation and radioactive 
material at levels sufficient to demonstrate compliance with the occupational dose limits 
of 10 CFR Part 20.  Specifically, for one AU, the licensee failed to adequately monitor 
one AU’s occupational exposure to radiation from licensed and unlicensed radiation 
sources under the licensee’s control.  Additionally, the licensee failed to require the 
proper use of individual monitoring devices by the AU, who was likely to receive, in 1 
year from sources external to the body, a dose in excess of 10 percent of the limits in 10 
CFR 20.1201(a), and had a substantial potential to exceed the NRC’s annual limit in 10 
CFR 20.1201(a). 
 



 

12 

The licensee’s failure to adequately monitor individuals’ occupational exposure to 
radiation and radioactive material was identified as an apparent violation of 
10 CFR 20.1502.  (030-32290/2020-001-01) 
 
Apparent violation of 10 CFR 20.1101(a) 
 
Title 10 CFR 20.1101(a) requires, in part, that each licensee implement a radiation 
protection program commensurate with the scope and extent of licensed activities and 
sufficient to ensure compliance with 10 CFR Part 20.   
 
The licensee’s policy, “ALARA Program,” Reference 7337, Version 3, dated 
December 4, 2018, and Version 2, dated May 1, 2015, state in part, in Section 4, 
“Review of the ALARA Program,” that for:  (1) personnel dose less than the 
Investigational Level I:  Except when deemed appropriate by the RSO, no further action 
will be taken in those cases where an individual’s dose is less than the Table 1 values 
for Investigational Level I; and (2) personnel dose equal to or greater than Investigational 
Level II:  The RSO or designee will investigate in a timely manner the causes of all 
personnel doses equaling or exceeding Investigational Level II and, if warranted, will 
take action.  
 
Contrary to the above, from August 5, 2016, to November 18, 2020, the licensee failed 
to implement a radiation protection program commensurate with the scope and extent of 
licensed activities sufficient to ensure compliance with 10 CFR Part 20.  Specifically, 
(1) the licensee’s policy, “ALARA Program,” failed to include provisions regarding actions 
to be taken when dosimeter results were less than the licensee’s Investigational Level I, 
such as when dosimeters were returned unused or had unexpectedly low exposures; 
and (2) the licensee failed to investigate personnel radiation dose equal to or greater 
than the licensee’s Investigational Level II and take action if warranted.   
 
The licensee’s failure to implement a radiation protection program commensurate with 
the scope and extent of licensed activities was identified as an apparent violation of 
10 CFR 20.1101(a).  (030-32290/2020-001-02) 
 
Apparent violation of 10 CFR 20.1201(f) 
 
Title 10 CFR 20.1201(f) requires, in part, that the licensee shall reduce the dose that an 
individual may be allowed to receive in the current year by the amount of occupational 
dose received while employed by any other person. 
 
Contrary to the above, from August 5, 2016, to November 18, 2020, the licensee failed 
to reduce the dose that an individual may be allowed to receive in the current year by the 
amount of occupational dose received while employed by any other person.  Specifically, 
the licensee failed to reduce the dose that an AU was allowed to receive by the amount 
of occupational dose that the AU was concurrently receiving while performing IR 
procedures at other facilities that were not owned or controlled by the licensee. 
 
The licensee’s failure to reduce the dose that an individual may be allowed to receive in 
the current year by the amount of occupational dose received while employed by any 
other person was identified as an apparent violation of 10 CFR 20.1201(f).  
(030-32290/2020-001-03) 
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Apparent violation of 10 CFR 19.12(a)(3) 

 
Title 10 CFR 19.12(a)(3) requires, in part, that all individuals who in the course of 
employment are likely to receive in a year an occupational dose in excess of 100 mrem 
shall be instructed in, and required to observe, to the extent within the worker’s control, 
the applicable provisions of Commission regulations and licenses for the protection of 
personnel from exposure to radiation and/or radioactive material.  
 
Contrary to the above, from August 5, 2016, to November 18, 2020, the licensee failed 
to provide to individuals, who in the course of employment were likely to receive in a 
year an occupational dose in excess of 100 mrem, instruction on the applicable 
provisions of the Commission regulations and licenses for the protection of personnel 
from exposure to radiation and/or radioactive material.  Specifically, the licensee failed to 
provide adequate instructions regarding the proper use of personnel dosimeters to an 
AU who was likely to receive in a year an occupational dose in excess of 100 mrem. 
 
The licensee’s failure to provide instruction to occupationally exposed individuals was 
identified as an apparent violation of 10 CFR 19.12(a)(3).  (030-32290/2020-001-04) 
 

3.6 Corrective Actions 
 

  At the conclusion of the onsite inspection, the inspector discussed the preliminary 
inspection findings with the licensee and requested that the licensee perform an analysis 
of the occupational radiation dose to AU1, going back to the beginning of the licensee’s 
Y-90 administration program, and accounting for any occupational radiation dose 
received by AU1 at other facilities.   

 
  Following the onsite inspection, the licensee reported that they had been in contact with 

the independent radiology provider, Medical Imaging Associates, to request historical 
dosimeter reports for AU1.  The licensee also reported that they were working with the 
dosimetry vendor and AU1 to request dosimeter reports from other facilities where AU1 
received occupational exposure to radiation from licensed or unlicensed activities.   As of 
April 15, 2021, the licensee had not provided the NRC with the results of its analysis or 
with its corrective actions to address any enhancements or revisions to its radiation 
protection program, ALARA program, training program, occupational radiation 
monitoring program, or oversight activities.   

 
3.7 Conclusions 
 

The inspector identified that one AU involved with Y-90 administrations had not 
consistently worn or had improperly worn their assigned personnel dosimeters, which 
are intended to be used to monitor radiation dose to the individuals.   
 
Four apparent violations were identified regarding the licensee’s failure to:  (1) monitor 
individuals’ exposure from licensed and unlicensed radiation sources; (2) implement 
certain elements of its radiation protection program sufficiently to ensure compliance 
with the provisions of Title 10 CFR Part 20; (3) reduce the dose that an individual may 
be allowed to receive in the current year by the amount of occupational dose received 
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while employed by any other person; and (4) provide instruction to individuals who were 
likely to receive in a year an occupational dose in excess of 100 mrem.   
 

  As of April 15, 2021, the licensee had not provided the NRC with the results of its 
radiation dose estimate for the AU or with its corrective actions to address the 
preliminary inspection findings that were described by the inspector at the conclusion of 
the onsite inspection.   
 

 
4 Exit Meeting Summary 

  
On April 28, 2021, a final telephonic exit meeting was conducted with Jeff Sollis, Chief 
Executive Officer; David Hoffenberg, Chief Operations Officer; Dr. Timothy Ballard, Chief 
Medical Officer; Dr. James Edlin, Radiation Safety Officer; and other members of the 
EIRMC staff to discuss the inspection findings.  The NRC representatives discussed the 
content of the inspection report, described the NRC’s enforcement process, and 
described the options for the licensee to:  (1) respond in writing to the apparent 
violations described in the inspection report; (2) request a predecisional enforcement 
conference, or (3) request alternative dispute resolution.  The licensee did not identify 
any proprietary information. 
 
 



 

  Attachment 

Supplemental Inspection Information 
 

PARTIAL LIST OF PERSONS CONTACTED 
 
David Hoffenberg, Chief Operations Officer 
Timothy Ballard, MD, Chief Medical Officer 
Jake Taylor, Associate Administrator 
Kade Price, Director of Diagnostic Imaging 
Julie Hogue, Director of Quality, Risk, and Patient Safety 
Emily Allred, Director of Oncology 
James Edlin, MD, RSO  
Scott Stermer, Nuclear Medicine Technologist 
Stephen Preece, MD, AU 
Daniel Miller, MD, AU 
Joshua Bryant, MS, AMP 
Mary Williams, Manager 
Adam Arndt, CHP, Medical Physics Consultants, Inc.  
 

INSPECTION PROCEDURES USED 
 

87131  Nuclear Medicine Programs, Written Directive Required 
87132  Brachytherapy Programs 
 

ITEMS OPENED, CLOSED, AND DISCUSSED 
 

Opened 
 

030-32290/2020-001-01 AV Failure to monitor individuals’ occupational exposure to  
radiation and radioactive material.  (10 CFR 20.1502) 

 
030-32290/2020-001-02 AV Failure to implement a radiation protection program  

commensurate with the scope and extent of licensed 
activities.  (10 CFR 20.1101(a)) 
 

030-32290/2020-001-03 AV Failure to reduce the dose that an individual may be  
allowed to receive by the amount of occupational dose  
received while employed by any other person (10 CFR  
20.1201(f)) 
 

030-32290/2020-001-04 AV Failure to provide instruction to occupationally exposed  
Individuals.  (10 CFR 19.12(a)(3)) 
 

 
Closed 
 
030-32290/2017-001-01 VIO Failure to have a written directive dated and signed by an  

AU prior to the administration of a therapeutic dose of  
radiation from byproduct material. (10 CFR 35.40(a)) 
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LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS USED 
 

ADAMS Agencywide Documents Access and Management System 
ADR  Alternative Dispute Resolution 
ALARA As Low As is Reasonably Achievable 
AMP  Authorized Medical Physicist 
AV  Apparent Violation 
AU  Authorized User 
CFR  Code of Federal Regulations 
CY  calendar year 
DDE  deep dose equivalent 
EIRMC  Eastern Idaho Regional Medical Center 
HDR  High Dose Rate 
IP  Inspection Procedure 
IR  Interventional Radiology 
NRC  Nuclear Regulatory Commission 
NOV  Notice of Violation 
PEC  Predecisional Enforcement Conference 
RSO  Radiation Safety Officer 
VIO  Violation 
Y-90  Yttrium-90 
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